IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEAIB OF WEST VIR~©~W 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Respondent, 

v. 

DANIEL BAUMGARDNER, 

Petitioner, 

t: 
-.-:, 

ocr 3 12011 

Case No.: 17-0395 
Circuit Court No.: 15-F-468 

Cabell County, West Virginia 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 

Matthew Brummond 

Appellate Counsel 

W.Va. Bar #10878 

Public Defender Services 

Appellate Advocacy Division 

One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 

Charleston, WV 25311 

(304) 558-3905 

Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov 


Counsel for the Petitioner 

mailto:Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The circuit court erred by permitting the State to call an undisclosed rebuttal witness, who testified 

to having witnessed Petitioner commit an additional, uncharged crime against the complainant. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A Cabell County jury convicted Petitioner of one count of first degree sexual abuse. 

Appendix Record (A.R.) 706. To secure this conviction, the State called an undisclosed rebuttal 

witness over Petitioner's objection. For the first time during the investigation and prosecution of 

this case, this witness, the complainant's grandfather, accused Petitioner of committing an 

additional criminal act against the complainant in his presence. A.R. 487-91. Because the circuit 

court erred by allowing the grandfather to testify, A.R. 486-87, 493-94, and because the non

responsive accusation of an uncharged act was so prejudicial, Petitioner requests a new trial. 

a. 	 The State accused Petitioner oftouching a five-year-old's vagina. At trial, she only 
testified to him touching "near" her private area. 

The State charged that Petitioner touched the complainant's vagina through her clothing. 

A.R. 693. It believed this incident occurred at the five-year-old complainant's grandfather's house. 

A.R. 162-68. Petitioner was a neighbor and family friend, id., who occasionally babysat the 

complainant and her sister. A.R. 243. Petitioner categorically denied the allegation. A.R. 468-71. 

At trial, the State first called the complainant to testify. A.R. 174. She said that once, while 

visiting her grandfather, she was playing in a tent alone. A.R. 186. Petitioner entered the tent, and 

touched "near" her private area. A.R. 187. She identified her private area as her vagina, but did not 

elaborate on where the touching occurred other than "near" her private area. A.R. 187-88. 

b. 	 The State caIled witnesses to testify to the complainant's out ofcourt statements 
accusing Petitioner ofinappropriate sexual contact. 

The State then called the complainant's mother, who recounted her daughter's disclosure. 

A.R. 221 et. seq. The mother said that the complainant said that Petitioner had touched her vagina. 

A.R. 231-33. She also testified to behavioral changes. A.R. 228-29. The mother first attributed the 
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misbehavior to stress caused by the complainant's father, who had re-entered the child's life shortly 

before she accused anyone of sexual contact. A.R. 229, 246. However, after the complainant 

identified Petitioner, the mother attributed the behavioral changes to him, instead. A.R. 229. 

Next, the police officer assigned to the case, Corporal Elkins, testified for the State. A.R. 

252. He did not initiate the investigation, but reviewed the criminal complaint authored by the 

officer who had. A.R. 254-55. He said that according to the complaint, the mother told the other 

officer that the complainant told her that Petitioner had inappropriate sexual contact with her. A.R. 

255. Elkins then arranged for a forensic interview, which a third officer conducted. Id. Elkins 

implied that in the forensic interview, the complainant accused Petitioner. See A.R. 264. Corporal 

Elkins did not interview the complainant, her mother, or anyone else in the case. A.R. 274-75. 

After Elkins testified, the State announced its intention to rest. A.R. 294-95. However, 

before doing so in open court, it decided to call Detective Backus, the officer who conducted the 

forensic interview. A.R. 301. He testified that the FBI trained him to interview child witnesses. A.R. 

311. The officer said that during this interview, the complainant discussed the incident, though the 

officer did not testify to the substance of that discussion. A.R. 311, 322. The State intended to 

introduce the video of the forensic interview. A.R.o 332. Initially, it would not play at all. Id. When 

it did play, the courtroom audio quality was poor, and the court reporter could not hear the video 

well enough to transcribe it. A.R. 372. Then the State rested. A.R. 393. 

c. 	 Petitioner denied the allegation, introduced evidence that complainant's family 
did not consider the accusation credible, and that the forenSIC interview was 
unreliable. 

Petitioner testified to deny the allegation. A.R. 468-71. He also testified that the 

complainant's grandfather continued to socialize with him after the complainant's allegation to 

show that adults in the complainant'S life did not credit her accusation. A.R. 470-71. 

In addition to Petitioner, the defense called an expert, a semi-retired, Ph.D.-level 

psychologist, to testify about forensic interviewing. A.R. 401. He testified that proper forensic 

interviews follow established protocols, and that although experts can disagree about which 
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protocol is best, reliable ones have considerable overlap. A.R. 410-411. However, based upon his 

years of experience, knowledge within the field, and upon reviewing the interview performed by 

the police, he concluded that the interview conformed to no known protocol, and could not be 

relied upon. A.R. 423-24. 

d. 	 The State called the grandfather as an undisclosed rebuttal witness over objection. 
On cross-examination, he testified non-responsively that he witnessed Petitioner 
commit an additional, uncharged act ofsexual abuse against the complainant. 

After the defense rested, the State announced its intention to call the grandfather to rebut 

Petitioner's claim that they remained friendly after the accusation. A.R. 482, 486. The defense 

objected that it had requested pretrial disclosure of rebuttal witnesses, and that the State had not 

disclosed the grandfather. A.R. 485-87, 698. The circuit court concurred with the State, that as a 

matter oflaw, it had no duty to disclose rebuttal witnesses. A.R. 486-87, 493-94. The Court did not 

evaluate whether the State should have reasonably anticipated calling the grandfather. See id. 

On direct examination, the grandfather testified as the State had represented: that he did 

not continue to socialize with Petitioner. A.R. 488-89. However, on cross examination, the 

following exchange took place: 

Q: SO did you accuse him of touching [the complainant]? 
A: I didn't accuse him of anything, but I tell you one thing I did catch him do. 
I was coming out of the kitchen with the door open and he had my granddaughter in his lap 
and he had his hand --

A.R. 490. At that point, the judge cut off the witness and directed him to answer responsively to 

the questions. A.R. 490-91. The defense objected that the response was inappropriate for rebuttal, 

and moved for a mistrial because of the novel accusation. A.R. 491-92. The court overruled the 

objection and denied the motion. A.R. 492. 

The jury convicted Petitioner of first degree sexual abuse. A.R. 600. He now appeals, 

arguing that, contrary to the court's ruling, 1) the State had a duty to disclose the grandfather as a 

witness because it should have reasonably anticipated calling him in rebuttal, and 2) the circuit 

court should have granted a mistrial because the grandfather's testimony was highly inflammatory 

and came as a complete surprise to the defense. 
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SU~YOFARGUMENT 

The Court permitted the State to call an undisclosed rebuttal witness on the mistaken belief 

that the State is never obliged to disclose rebuttal witnesses. This is a mistake of law, and due to 

the extreme prejudice caused by the rebuttal witness's testimony, the circuit court erred by not 

declaring a mistrial. 

The State alleged that Petitioner committed a single act of abuse against the complainant, 

and that there were no other witnesses. He planned a theory of defense accordingly; he denied the 

accusation, and called an expert to testify that the forensic examination was invalid and unreliable. 

The State's undisclosed rebuttal witness claimed to have seen Petitioner commit an un

charged act ofabuse against the complainant. This was the first time in the prosecution of this case 

that anyone other than the complainant claimed to witness abuse. It was also the only time anyone 

indicated more than a single, isolated instance of abuse. This testimony, from an undisclosed wit

ness concerning an undisclosed allegation, unfairly undermined Petitioner's theory of defense. Pe

titioner had no notice, and no meaningful opportunity to respond to this allegation, which came at 

the end of the evidence phase of trial. This Court should reverse the circuit court's denial ofPeti

tioner's motion for a mistrial because the grandfather's testimony created a manifest necessity to 

discharge the jury. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioner asks this Court to reverse a circuit court's ruling in a criminal case, and therefore 

oral argument and a signed opinion are appropriate. However, Petitioner relies upon well

established principles oflaw. See State p. Roy, 194 W. Va. 276, 286-87,460 S.E.2d 277, 287-88. (1995) 

(" [R]ebuttal witnesses should be disclosed when the State has a reasonable anticipation that they 

will be used during trial."); State P. Smith, 220 W. Va. 565, 571,648 S.E.2d 71, 77 (2007) (per 

curiam) (finding manifest necessity for a mistrial because the State's late-disclosure of a rebuttal 

witness hampered the defendant's ability to formulate a theory of defense). Therefore, Petitioner 

requests a Rule 19 argument. 
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ARGUMENT 


The circuit court erred by permitting the State to call an undisclosed rebuttal witness, who 
testified to having witnessed Petitioner commit an additional, uncharged crime against the 
complainant. 

One "purposeD of pretrial discovery in criminal cases [is] ... to eliminate trial by am

bush[.]" State v. Roy, 194 W. Va. 276, 281-82, 460 S.E.2d 277,282-83 (1995). Accordingly, this 

Court liberally construes its rules of criminal procedure. Roy, 194 W. Va. at 282. West Virginia 

Criminal Procedure Rule 16, which concerns witness disclosure, only refers to case-in-chief evi

dence; however, "rebuttal witnesses should be disclosed when the State has a reasonable anticipa

tion that they will be used during trial." Roy, 194 W. Va. at 286-87. This Court reviews a circuit 

court's determination of whether the State ought to have reasonably anticipated calling a rebuttal 

witness for abuse of discretion. See Roy, 194 W. Va. at 282. 

Here, the circuit court did not exercise discretion in asituation calling for it; it instead ruled 

that as a matter oflaw, Rule 16's disclosure requirements apply only to case-in-chiefevidence and 

that the State had no duty to disclose rebuttal witnesses. A.R. 486-87, 493-94. This Court's review 

is therefore de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). 

The circuit court erred; it ruled that the State has no duty to disclose rebuttal witnesses, 

A.R. 486-87, 493-94, and this Court has ruled otherwise. Roy, 194 W. Va. at 286-87. In the first 

instance, the State should have reasonably anticipated calling the grandfather to testify. It is possi

ble the grandfather's inflammatory testimony surprised the State as well, A.R. 554, but nonetheless 

the State should have foreseen the probability of calling the grandfather for rebuttal, generally. 

Prior to the grandfather's bombshell testimony, the State had no direct evidence besides the ques

tionable testimony of the complainant. See A.R. 187. The complainant alleged that the incident 

occurred at her grandfather's house, with no witnesses. Id. The grandfather could have explained 

details concerning his home and yard, and the habits and behaviors ofthe family to provide context 

and support that the complainant could not convey. The State can prove its case however it wishes, 

and of course it had no affirmative obligation to call the grandfather, but that is not the inquiry. 

The question is only whether the State should have reasonably anticipated having a need to call the 
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grandfather for rebuttal. On these facts, and especially with such a weak case-in-chief, the State 

should have anticipated calling the grandfather for rebuttal, and therefore the State should have 

disclosed him as a witness. Cf. State v. Black, 227 W. Va. 297,309-10, 708 S.E.2d 491, 503-04 

(2010); State v. Ward, 188 W. Va. 380,384,424 S.E.2d 725,729 (1991) (cases in which this Court 

upheld exclusion of undisclosed defense rebuttal witnesses). 

Furthermore, Petitioner's case demonstrates sufficient prejudice that the circuit court 

ought to have granted his request for a mistrial. A circuit court should declare a mistrial and dis

charge the jury upon a finding of "manifest necessity." W. Va. Code § 62-3-7 (1923). A manifest 

necessity for a mistrial exists where "the circumstances [are] 'forceful' and 'prejudicial' to the 

accused." State v. Smith, 220 W. Va. 565, 568,648 S.E.2d 71, 74 (2007). 

In State v. Smith, this Court found that the State's failure to disclose a rebuttal witness 

justified a mistrial and reversed the defendant's conviction. Smith, 220 W. Va. at 568. In both this 

case and Smith, the defense requested disclosure of rebuttal witnesses and the State did not honor 

the request, believing the rules did not require it to comply. Compare A.R. 486, 698 with Smith, 220 

W. Va. at 567-68. In both cases, the State then called an undisclosed rebuttal witness over objec

tion. Compare A.R. 486 with Smith, 220 W. Va. at 568. Finally, in both cases the defense com

plained of unfair surprise because the respective witnesses testified beyond the scope of rebuttal. 

Compare A.R. 486, 521-22, with Smith, 220 W. Va. at 568. 

The undisclosed rebuttal evidence in Petitioner's case is at least as prejudicial as that which 

required reversal in Smith. The testimony prejudiced the defense in Smith because the witness 

repudiated a prior statement supportive of the defendant's alibi. See Smith, 220 W. Va. at 568. This 

Court found sufficient prejudice to warrant reversal even though the defense did learn of the prior 

statement and the witness' favorable treatment, and was able to cross-examine the witness upon 

these topics. See id. The Court ruled that the late disclosure nonetheless prevented Smith from 

effectively planning a theory of defense, making a mistrial manifestly necessary. Id. at 570-71. See 

also State v. Grimm, 165 W. Va. 547, 555-56, 270 S.E.2d 173, 178 (1980) (failure to disclose rebuttal 

evidence reversible error because it prejudiced defendant's ability to plan a theory of defense). 
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Here, the State's failure to disclose its rebuttal witness likewise prevented Petitioner from 

planning an effective theory of defense. The State's case-in-chiefdepended upon the report of the 

complainant, who testified to a single instance of Petitioner touching "near" her vagina. See A.R. 

at 187. She said there were no witnesses, A.R. 185, and the State alleged a single offense, not a 

pattern or practice. A.R. 693. Petitioner prepared to defend against this single allegation, highlight

ing that as a family friend and babysitter, he had considerable access to the child, see, e.g., A.R.198, 

yet she only alleged a single instance of misconduct. The defense also invested considerable time 

and resources attacking the forensic interview's reliability since there were no other witnesses to 

the alleged abuse. E.g. A.R. 401-25. Based on the State's pre-rebuttal theory of prosecution, the 

defense also could have argued mistaken identity, as the complainant's biological father re-entered 

her life shortly before the allegation ofabuse. A.R. 229, 246. The State's undisclosed rebuttal wit

ness turned the theory of defense on its head. He claimed to have witnessed Petitioner, not the 

father, committing abuse against the complainant, and on a separate occasion from that charged. 

A.R. 490. The grandfather's accusation fundamentally altered the nature of the trial and the alle

gation Petitioner needed to defend against. Petitioner had no notice or opportunity to defend him

selfagainst this novel accusation of uncharged misconduct. See Smith, 220 W. Va. at 570. 

Ifanything, the prejudice in Petitioner's case is worse than that in Smith because here, the 

rebuttal witness injected an uncharged accusation against Petitioner at the conclusion of the trial. 

Evidence of uncharged crimes is uniquely prejudicial. See State v. Willett, 223 W. Va. 394, 400

401,674 S.E.2d 602,608-09 (2009) (per curiam) (Ketchum,)., concurring). Such evidence causes 

the jury to preconceive the defendant as a bad person, and the jury will view the substantive evi

dence through the distorting lens of that preconception. [d. Particularly where, as here, the un

charged conduct is similar to the charged offense, bad acts evidence invites the jury to dispense 

with the presumption of innocence. [d. This "forceful," "prejudicial" circumstance created a 

manifest necessity for a mistrial, and the circuit court therefore committed reversible error. See 

Smith, 220 W. Va. at 568. 
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CONCLUSION 


Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse the circuit court's denial of a mis

trial, and remand his case for a new trial.