ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


Daniel Baumgardner ("Petitioner") advances a single assignment of error in this appeal in 

which he challenges the State's use of a rebuttal witness at trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Respondent, the State of West Virginia ("the State"), does not believe oral argument 

is necessary in this matter as the issues presented in this appeal are fully presented in the briefs 

and record, are without merit, and have otherwise been authoritatively decided. Accordingly, a 

memorandum decision affinning the circuit court's order is appropriate in this matter. W. Va. 

Rev. R. App. P. 21(c). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. 	 Petitioner is indicted for unlawfully rubbing a five year old's vagina. 

Petitioner was indicted by the Cabell County Grand Jury on a single count of First 

Degree Sexual Abuse for unlawfully rubbing his hand on J .B. 's vagina, a child of approximately 

five years of age, in or around August 2015. (Appendix, hereinafter "App." at 693). 

B. 	 Trial testimony. 

1. 	 Relevant testimony from the State's case-in-chief. 

lB., the victim, was six years old when she testified at trial. (App. at 174-75). She 

identified Petitioner and explained that in the summer of 2015, she and Petitioner were alone 

outside of her grandfather's house at night and Petitioner touched her "no-no spot" with his 

hands over her clothes. (Id. at 184-85, 188-90). I lB.' s testimony indicates that her "no-no spot" 

1 J.B. initially testified that Petitioner touched her near her "private." (App. at 187-88). J.B. 
subsequently agreed, however, that Petitioner touched her "no-no spot" over her clothes with his hand, 
(id at 190-91) (Q: How did it make you feel when he touched your no-no spot with his hand? A: Sad), 
and that he rubbed her no-no spot. (Id at 189) (Q: And when he touched your no-no spot with his hand 
did he do anything with his hand? .... Did he move it? A: Yes). She also showed the jury where he 
touched and rubbed her vagina. (Id at 188). 



is the term she uses to refer to her vagina. (Id. at 188). She answered that Petitioner moved his 

hands on her vagina and told her: "['V]hen people is [sic] coming he is going to stop." (Jd. at 

189-90). It made lB. sad when he touched her there and she was initially too scared to tell 

anyone about what happened. (Id. at 190-91). Eventually, J.B. mustered the courage to tell her 

mother about the incident. (Id. at 191,216). The police were subsequently notified and J.B. was 

interviewed by Detective Tod Backus ("Detective Backus") (discussed infra). (Id. at 192-93). 

C.B., lB.'s mother, also testified at trial during the State's case-in-chief, (see App. at 

222) and explained that, before the incident, C.B. and her family had a "really good relationship" 

with Petitioner and that they could "depend on him for anything." (Id. at 227). However, C.B. 

noticed that lB. started distancing herself from Petitioner. (Jd. at 228). At first, C.B. did not pay 

it much attention, but then J.B. confided in her that Petitioner touched and rubbed her vagina on 

the outside of her clothes. (Id. at 229-33). J.B. told C.B. about it when they were driving in their 

car; J .B.' s sister was in the vehicle at that time, too. (See id. at 241-42). J.B. was emotional 

during this time-she was upset and crying and was afraid she would get in trouble. (Id. at 232). 

Detective Backus of the Family Unit of the Huntington Police Department conducted a 

forensic interview of J.B. (App. at 260). First, he described to the jury his relevant background 

and training regarding forensic interviewing (i.e., how to conduct an objective interview so as 

not to prompt certain responses from the interviewee). (Jd. at 311-15). Detective Backus was 

trained by the FBI to conduct a "phases" type of forensic interview, which is the method he 

employed when interviewing J.B. (See id. at 283,371). 

Afterwards, the twenty-eight minute interview was played for the jury. (See App. at 372). 

During the interview, J.B. confided in Detective Backus that Petitioner touched her vagina over 

her clothes: "My clothes was [sic] on but, urn, we was [sic] sitting beside each other, uh, and, 
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urn, he was taking his hand and rubbing me on my no-no spot." (Id. at 721).2 

2. Relevant testimony from the defense case. 

After the State rested, Petitioner called two witnesses. The first witness, Joseph Wyatt, 

was a retired faculty member of Marshall University and his testimony was offered in an attempt 

to undermine the validity of the forensic interview conducted by Detective Backus. (See 

generally App. at 400,' 409-10). Critically, Dr. Wyatt admitted that professionals in his field 

disagree about what types of topics should be covered in a forensic interview when speaking 

with a child, and also conceded he was not familiar with the FBI phase training. (Id. at 410-11). 

Dr. Wyatt also testified that the child appeared very comfortable during the interview, which was 

a "positive" in his mind. (Id. at 411-12). He further indicated that the questions about what 

Petitioner did were "fine." (Id. at 412). Finally, on direct, Dr. Wyatt did not outright say that the 

interview was invalid or unreliable, he merely stated that he had questions about it. (Id. at 423

24). On cross-examination, Dr. Wyatt again conceded he had no insight into the method of 

forensic interviewing taught by the FBI (i.e., the method employed by Detective Backus during 

the interview). (Id. at 429). 

Petitioner testified on his own behalf. (App. at 464). He denied touching lB.'s vagina. 

(Id. at 469). He claimed that he and lB. 's grandfather socialized even after he was indicted for 

sexually abusing lB., insisting that they "sat around, watched TV, dr[a]nk a few beers, or sat 

outside." (Id. at 477). 

2 Page 721 of the Appendix Record contains the CD of the forensic interview that was played at 
trial. The above-quoted statement can be heard at 4:11-25 of the recording. 

3 J.B.'s grandfather'S initials are the same as J.B.'s initials. To avoid confusion, the State shall 
refer to him simply as the "grandfather." 
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3. 	 Relevant rebuttal testimony. 

On rebuttal, the State called, inter alia, lB. 's grandfather to testify. (App. at 486). The 

defense objected on the ground that the grandfather had not been disclosed as a witness and the 

trial court denied the objection. (ld at 486-87). The grandfather offered the following relevant 

testimony on direct, which was designed to rebut Petitioner's testimony that the two of them 

socialized after the incident: 

Q; After [Petitioner] was charged after this came out, did you have any type 
of contact with [him]? 

A; No. 

Q: Did you have him coming over to your house -
A: No. 
Q: -- or go over to his house at all? 
A. No. 

Q: Socializing? 
A: I wouldn't even speak to him. 

(Id at 488-89). On cross-examination, the grandfather was asked when he had first accused 

Petitioner of touching lB., and the grandfather responded: 

A: 	 I didn't accuse him of anything, but I will tell you one thing I did 
catch him do. I was coming out of the kitchen with the door open 
and he had my granddaughter in his lap and he had his hand-

The Court: All right. 

(App. at 490). The defense objected to the grandfather's testimony (that defense counsel himself 

had elicited on cross-examination) on the ground that it was "case-in-chief kind of evidence." 

(ld at 491). The court overruled the objected. (ld). After the cross-examination was finished, 

the defense moved for a mistrial on the ground that they were not made aware of the substance of 

the grandfather's testimony before trial. (ld at 492). The court denied the motion. (ld). 
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C. Conviction and sentence. 

Petitioner was convicted of First Degree Sexual Abuse as charged in the indictment. (See 

App. at 706). He was ordered, inter alia, to register as a sex offender for life and committed to 

the custody of the West Virginia Division of Corr~ctions of an indeterminate term of not less 

than five (5) nor more than twenty-five (25) years to be served on home confinement. (/d. at 

707). 

D. This appeal. 

In this appeal, Petitioner advances a single assignment of error, contending that the 

circuit court erred when it permitted the State to call an "undisclosed rebuttal witness" (the 

grandfather) who allegedly testified "to having witnessed Petitioner commit an additional, 

uncharged crime" against his granddaughter. -(Pet'r's Brief at 1). For the reasons disclosed 

below, Petitioner's assignment of error is without merit. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The State did not disclose the grandfather as a rebuttal witness because there was no 

reason to anticipate the grandfather would need to be called as a rebuttal witness until Petitioner 

testified on his own behalf during trial. Petitioner's related claim-that he was prejudiced by the 

grandfather's testimony because the grandfather allegedly testified to an uncharged criminal 

act-is misplaced because the grandfather did not actually offer such testimony. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"The admissibility of evidence as rebuttal is within the sound discretion of the trial court, 

and the exercise of such discretion does not constitute ground for reversal unless it is prejudicial 

to the defendant." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Dietz, 182 W. Va. 544, 390 S.E.2d 15 (1990) (internal 

citations and quotations omitted). 
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ARGUMENT 


Under West Virginia law, "[w]here a criminal defendant's witness on direct examination 

raises a material matter, and on cross-examination testifies adversely to the prosecution, it is 

proper for the trial court to allow the prosecution to present rebuttal evidence as to such matter." 

Dietz, 182 W. Va. at SyI. Pt. 2, 390 S.E.2d at 18. In this matter, Petitioner testified on his own 

behalf (he was a defense witness) that the grandfather socialized with him even after J.B. alleged 

he rubbed her vagina (a material matter aimed at undermining J.B.'s credibility). After the 

defense rested, the trial court permitted the State to call the grandfather to testify that he did not 

socialize with Petitioner after he learned of lB.'s claims. (See id. at 486-92). Because this 

testimony was offered to rebut a defense witness's direct testimony, it was "proper for the trial 

court to allow the prosecution to present rebuttal evidence as to such matter," Dietz, supra. 

Despite this, Petitioner further insists that the State should have disclosed the grandfather 

as a rebuttal witness because the State allegedly could have "reasonably anticipated calling the 

grandfather for rebuttal." (Pet'r's Brief at 5). While this Court has observed that the State should 

disclose a rebuttal witness where it has a "reasonable anticipation" that the rebuttal witness will 

be used at trial, see State v. Roy, 194 W. Va. 276,287,460 S.E.2d 277, 288 (1995) ("We agree 

with the defendant that even rebuttal witnesses should be disclosed when the State has a 

reasonable anticipation that they be used during trial."), Petitioner's claim that the State should 

have reasonably anticipated that the grandfather would be a rebuttal witness (and therefore 

should have disclosed him as a potential rebuttal witness before trial) is misplaced for several 

reasons. 

First, for purposes of pretrial disclosures, the grandfather was not an identifiable rebuttal 

witness regarding the context of the crime itself because there were no witnesses to the sexual 

abuse. (See App. at 189-90). Thus, there was no reason to disclose the grandfather in this 
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context, irrespective of the evidence offered by the defense during its portion of the trial 

regarding the abuse (to the extent the defense even elected to advance a defense). Second, J.B. 

confided in her mother and sister that Petitioner sexually abused her-she did not confide in her 

grandfather. (Id. at 191-92, 216). Therefore, the grandfather would not have been a potential 

rebuttal witness regarding lB.'s reporting of the abuse (to the extent Petitioner attempted to call 

such disclosure into question during trial). 

Third, the State did not know-and could not have known-whether Petitioner would 

testify until trial, and, even if the State was aware that Petitioner would testify at trial, it would 

only be reasonable to anticipate that Petitioner would deny sexually abusing J.B. Anything else is 

far too speculative. As highlighted above, the grandfather would not have been a reasonable 

witness to call to rebut this type of testimony. Instead, a reasonable rebuttal witness on such a 

topic would have been J.B. (the victim) or potentially her sister, mother or Detective Backus 

because J.B. disclosed the sexual abuse to them. Either way, it would not have been the 

grandfather. 

Fourth, contrary to Petitioner's assertions, it is not reasonable to suggest that the State 

should have disclosed the grandfather as a rebuttal witness on the ground that he "could have 

explained details concerning his home and yard, and the habits and behaviors of the family to 

provide context and support that the [victim] could not convey." (Pet'r's Brief at 5). As an initial 

matter, none of these considerations fall within the scope of rebuttal testimony in this case-the 

time for providing a description of the area in which the crime occurred was during the State's 

case-in-chief (which the State did)-not rebuttal-and the set-up of the yard does not appear to 

have been materially disputed at trial. Even then, as discussed above, the victim was the only 

person present when the sexual abuse occurred and she testified regarding the set-up of the yard 
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and area. (E.g., App. at 202). The grandfather was not present when the abuse occured. (See id.). 

Similarly, the mother provided testimony regarding the context in which Petitioner and her 

daughter knew one another4-testimony from the grandfather was not needed during the State's 

case-in-chief and there was no reasonable basis to anticipate needing this duplicative testimony 

during rebuttal. 

Finally, it is evident that the first time the State reasonably became aware that the 

grandfather should be called to offer rebuttal testimony to contradict Petitioner's statement that 

the two of them socialized after the incident was the first time such a statement was made

which was during Petitioner's trial testimony. For these reasons, Petitioner's claim that the 

grandfather should have been disclosed before trial as a rebuttal witness is without merit. 

Petitioner's related claim-that he was prejudiced by a portion of the grandfather'S 

rebuttal testimony-is equally unavailing. Specifically, he argues that the grandfather accused 

him of committing an uncharged crime (of sexual assault or abuse) against the victim. (see 

Pet'r's Brief at 6-7). This claim overreaches because there was no such testimony. As recounted 

above, on cross-examination, the grandfather was asked whether he had accused Petitioner of 

touching lB., and the grandfather responded: 

A: 	 I didn't accuse him of anything, but I will tell you one thing I did 
catch him do. I was coming out of the kitchen with the door open 
and he had my granddaughter in his lap and he had his hand-

The Court: All right. 

(App. at 490). The grandfather did not finish this testimony because the trial court cut him off. 

(ld.). It is possible that the grandfather was going to say that Petitioner had his hand on 1.B.'s lap 

or shoulder, or head, or neck, or some other body part that would not constitute sexual abuse (or 

sexual assault). Consequently, Petitioner's claim in this appeal that the grandfather claimed to 

4 See, e.g., App. at 225-26. 
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have witnessed Petitioner sexually abusing the victim on an occasion other than the event 

charged in the indictment is, respectfully, not accurate. There was no such testimony. At best, 

Petitioner's contention in this appeal is simply speculative-it is not grounded in the record, and 

must fail. See State, Dep't ofHealth & Human Res., Child Advocate Office on BehalfofRobert 

Michael B. v. Robert Morris N., 195 W. Va. 759, 766, 466 S.E.2d 827, 834 (1995) (rejecting a 

claim that was "totally unsupported" by the appendix record). 

For these same reasons, Petitioner's argument that this testimony "fundamentally altered 

the nature of trial" is wrong and his discussion of State v. Smith and State v. Grimm is 

inapposite.s Finally, even assuming Petitioner's claim was factually correct (it is not) and the 

cases he relies upon are on point (they are not), there was no prejudice (which is a required 

showing to be entitled to a reversal based upon an issue with the State's rebuttal evidence, Smith, 

220 W. Va. at 569, 648 S.E.2d at 75 (explaining that "the admission of rebuttal evidence is 

within the discretion of the trial court and that the exercise thereof is rarely reversed, "unless the 

defendant is clearly shown to have been prejudiced") (internal citations omitted)). The evidence 

against Petitioner was overwhelming. The victim consistently stated that Petitioner rubbed her 

vagina: She reported it to her mother (App. at 191, 216); informed Detective Backus about it 

during the forensic interview (fd. at 721 - 4: 11-25); acknowledged in her direct examination at 

5 Even assuming these cases were relevant, Smith is distinguishable because it involved a rebuttal 
witness in an alibi case in which the rebuttal witness had given a pretrial statement and had a pending plea 
agreement with the State, neither of which had been disclosed by the State to the defendant before trial. 
State v. Smith, 220 W. Va. 565, 570, 648 S.E.2d 71, 76 (2007). Following the defendant's conviction, on 
appeal, this Court ruled that the combination of these issues (the State's possession and withholding of 
these pretrial statements and the existence of the plea in conjunction with the substance of the rebuttal 
testimony) denied the defendant a fair trial. See id. Unlike Smith, the grandfather in this matter had not 
given any pretrial statements (see App. at 554) and obviously had no pending plea agreement. Thus, 
Smith is markedly distinguishable from the matter at hand-there was none of this evidence to disclose 
before (or during) trial. Petitioner's reliance upon State v. Grimm is similarly misplaced as that matter 
involved the non-disclosure of a booking report (evidence that existed before trial) that was used by the 
State during rebuttal to cal1 into question the defendant's insanity defense. State v. Grimm, 165 W. Va. 
547, 556, 270 S.E.2d 173, 178 (1980). 
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trial that this happened; and showed the jury where Petitioner rubbed her. (Id. at 187-89). This 

testimony alone is sufficient to support a conviction. Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Beck, 167 W. Va. 830, 

286 S.E.2d 234 (1981) ("A conviction for any sexual offense may be obtained on the 

uncorroborated testimony of the victim, unless such testimony is inherently incredible, the 

credibility is a question for the jury."). 

The defense did little (or nothing) to off-set this compelling evidence. Petitioner's expert 

witness' testimony was not powerful. Dr. Wyatt-the expert retained by Petitioner at trial to call 

into question the quality of the forensic interview-admitted that there is no consensus in his 

field about what constitutes a "proper" forensic interview, and he conceded multiple times during 

his testimony that he was not familiar with the FBI forensic interview training, which is the 

interviewing style Detective Backus employed when he interviewed 1.B. (App. at 410-11,429). 

While the credibility of a witness is for the jury to determine, Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. 

Malfregeot, 224 W. Va. 264, 685 S.E.2d 237, 239 (2009) ("Credibility determinations are for a 

jury and not an appellate court."), it is hardly a surprise that Dr. Wyatt's opinion did not lead to 

an acquittal given the relatively harmless nature of his testimony (e.g., not even knowing the type 

of method the detective employed during the forensic interview, admitting that the child 

appeared comfortable during the interview, and conceding the lack of a consensus in his field of 

discipline regarding what to do during a forensic interview). In short, Petitioner was not 

prejudiced by the grandfather's rebuttal testimony because, setting the limited testimony aside, 

the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should affirm Petitioner Daniel Baumgardner's conviction and sentence and 

deny his requested relief in full.